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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

ENERGY INTELLIGENCE GROUP, INC.
and ENERGY INTELLIGENCE GROUP
(UK) LIMITED,

Plaintiffs,

VS. Case No. 16-01015-EFM-GLR

CHS McPHERSON REFINERY, INC.
(F/K/A NATIONAL COOPERATIVE
REFINERY ASSOCIATION),

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Plaintiffs Energy Intelligence Group, In@and Energy Intelligence Group (UK) Limited
(together, Plaintiffs or “EIG”) have sueBefendant CHS McPhersoRefinery, Inc. (the
“Refinery”) for copyright infringement. Thimatter comes before the Court on the Refinery’'s
Motion for Referral to the Register of Copyits Pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 411(b) and a
Concurrent Stay (Doc. 98). Fdahe reasons stated below, the Court denies the Refinery's
motion.

l. Factual and Procedural Background
EIG has been publishing newsérs and other publicatiorfisr the global energy industry

for over sixty years. It sellsubscriptions to a number of gigations, two of which includ@®il
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Daily andPetroleum Intelligence Weeklyrrom June 2004 to about Z)EIG sought to register
Oil Daily with the United States Copyright Offiaesing Form G/DN. This form allows an
applicant to register multiple newspapers andgtetters in a single application. From 2004 to
2016, EIG sought to registétetroleum Intelligence Weeklyith the Copyright Office using
Form SE. This form allows an applicant egister an individdaissue of a seriale.g, a
newsletter, periodical, magazirenual, or journal.

The Refinery maintained a single subscriptiorDibDaily from 1992 through May 15,
2015, and a single subscription Retroleum Intelligence Weekiyom 1982 through June 13,
2016. Originally, the Refinery received the puélions in print and wuld route each printed
publication through its office foseveral executiveso read. In thdate 1990s, EIG began
distributing the publications eleotically. EIG alleges that tHeefinery continued to distribute
Oil Daily and Petroleum Intelligence Weeklp its employees by making a copy of the
publication and distributing the pg in .pdf attachments via email. According to EIG, the
Refinery’s actions of copying and distribugi the publications viake the subscription
agreements.

EIG commenced this action on January 2816, and filed an Amended Complaint on
August 16, 2016, alleging that the Refineryifwily infringed the copyrights of it©il Daily and
Petroleum Intelligence Weeklyublications. The Refinery di&es the infringement and the
validity of EIG’s copyright registrations. Thearties have filed cross motions for summary
judgment, which are currently pending before tloai®© In addition, thdrkefinery has filed the
current motion, which relates to the validity BfG’s copyright registrations. The Refinery
contends that EIG made knowing misrepresiomns when preparing Form G/DN for tksl

Daily publications and asks the Court to refeis tmatter to the Register of Copyrights to
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determine whether it would have refdseregistration if it had known of these
misrepresentatior's.In addition, the Refinery asks for a concurrstay of the proceedings.
Il. Legal Standard
Section 411(b)(1) of tnCopyright Act states:
A certificate of registration satisfies theqterements of thisection and section
412, regardless of whether the certificate contains any inaccurate information,

unless-

(A) the inaccuratenformation was included on ¢happlication for copyright
registration with knowledge # it was inaccurate; and

(B) the inaccuracy ofhe information, if known, wuld have caused the Register
of Copyrights to refuse registratién.

Section 411(b)(2) requires that]f{ any case in which inaccuminformation described under
paragraph (1) is alleged, the court shall reqtiestRegister of Copyrightto advise the court
whether the inaccurate information, if known, would have caused the Register of Copyrights to
refuse registration®

The Refinery brings this motion under481(b)(2)—a procedural mechanism that has
rarely been invoked in the federal courts angeneeviewed or interpted by the Tenth Circuft.
Those courts that have interpreted 8§ 411(b)(2ehdetermined that the provision is mandatory,

meaning that it requires districburts to solicit the advice tfie Register of Copyrights if the

! The Refinery does not allege that EIG made knowing misrepresentations with regardPédroteum
Intelligence Weeklgopyright applications. Therefore, the only copyright registrations at issue in this motion are
those forQil Daily.

217 U.S.C. § 411.
3d.

* See PalmerKane, LLC v. Rosen Book Works,, 11188 F. Supp. 3d 347, 348 (S.D.N.Y. 2016) (noting that
the procedure set forth in 17 U.S.C. § 411(b)(2) has rarely been invoked). Section 411(b)(2) was angftded i
as part of the PRO IP ActDeliverMed Holdings, LLC v. SchaltenbrantB4 F.3d 616, 623 (7th Cir. 2013). The
amendment added the new procedure requiring referral to the Register of Copydights.



statutory conditions set forth & 411(b)(1)(A) are satisfiet.For example, iDeliverMed the
Seventh Circuit held that the district courtmouitted reversible error when it invalidated a
copyright registration withoufirst consulting the Registeof Copyrights as required by
§ 411(b)(2) even though the parties had not reqdeke court to do sb.

The language of § 411(b)(2) requires the court to consult the Copyright Office when a
party simply alleges the inclusion of knowingly inaccurate information in the copyright
application’ But, federal courts have recognizedttthis procedure creates a serious potential
for abuse because it allows infringers tolagleproceedings by simply alleging technical
violations of the underlyig copyright registratiorfs. Thus, the courts have concluded that before
seeking the Register’s advice on materiality, theéypseeking invalidation of the copyright must
first establish the preconditions validity—(1) that the application contained a misstatement of
fact and (2) that the misrepresentativas knowingly included on the applicatidriThis method
“appropriately balances the Copyright Office’s staty right to weigh in on the materiality of a
knowing misrepresentation . . .agst the district court’s ‘inlrent power to control its own

docket and to prevent abuse in its proceedind®.Therefore, before thiSourt refers the matter

® See, e.g., DeliverMed Holdingg34 F.3d at 623 (“[T]he statute obligates courts to obtain an opinion from
the Register . . . .")Schenck v. OrosZA05 F. Supp. 3d 812, 818 (M.D.Tenn. 2015) (“By its terms, 8§ 411(b)(2)
requires the court to seek an advisory opinion fromRhgister in any case thatleges’ inaccurate information
under § 411(b)(1) that, if known to the Register, would have caused the Register to reftisgioeg]).

® DeliverMed 734 F.3d at 624.
717 U.S.C. § 411(b)(2).

8 See DeliverMed734 F.3d at 625 (“Given its obvious potential for abuse, we must strongly caution both
courts and litigants to be wary a@$ing this device in the future.”$chenck105 F. Supp. 3d at 818.

° PalmerKane 188 F. Supp. 3d at 349 (citifzeliverMed 734 F.3d at 625).

191d. (quotingRalph Lauren Corp. v. U.S. Polo Ass'n, In2014 WL 4377852, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 4,
2014)).



to the Register of Copyrights, the Refry must demonstrate (1) that EIGQil Daily
registration applications inatled inaccurate information and (2) that EIG knowingly included
this inaccurate information in the applications.
. Analysis

The Refinery argues that EIG knowingly inchatinaccurate information when seeking
to registerOil Daily using Form G/DN with the Copyrigi@ffice. Form G/DN may be used for
group registration of daily newspapers and netteste, provided that the applicant meets the
following requirements:

(1) [The daily newsletter is published] at least two days each week and the
newsletter must contain news or inforroatiof interest chiefly to a special group .

(2) The works must be essentially all neallective works or all new issues that
have not been published before;

(3) Each issue must be a work made for hire;

(4) The author(s) and claimant(s) mustlbe same person(s) or organization(s) for
all the issues;

(5) All the items in the group must beasuie dates within a single calendar month
under the same continuing title;

(6) The deposit for newsletters registetatler this section isne complete copy
of each issue included in the group . . .;

(7) Registration is sought witihthree months after the putation date of the last
issue included in the grodp.

If all of these requirements are met, an appitamay register the newsletters published during
that time period in a single application and witkiragle deposit fee. If the applicant cannot meet
all of the requirements, it is required tobsuit individual copyrightapplication for each
publication.

The top of Form G/DN contains instructiofts filling out the aplication. They state

that the conditions “must be met” to use the f@na that “if any one of the conditions does not

1137 C.F.R. § 202.3(b)(9).



apply, [the applicant] must use Form SE.” riAioG/DN requires, amongther things, that the
applicant provide “the name and address ofahnor/copyright claimannh these works made
for hire,” and to provide the “author’s contrimn,” which is to be idicated by checking the
box(es) that apply—editing, text, compilatitror other. For those applications dated June 2004
through October 2007, EIG claimed contributiontle compilation, ating, and text inOil
Daily. After 2007, EIG no longer claimeadmtribution in the compilation dDil Daily but it did
claim contribution in tk text and editing.

The Refinery claims that EIG has not nie¢ second, third, anadrth requirements set
forth above to registédil Daily with Form G/DN. Specifically, #nRefinery asserts that (1) EIG
is not the author or exclusieensee of all content withi®il Daily; (2) Oil Daily is not
essentially an all-new collective wotkand (3) the editing and text &fil Daily is not a work
made for hire. EIG disputes thesainls arguing that it properly register@idl Daily using
Form G/DN. It further argues that even amg EIG included inaccurate information on Form
G/DN, the Refinery has not demonstrated thatinformation was included on the application
with the knowledge that it was inaccurate.

A. Declaration of Ralph Oman
Before the Court examines whether EIG’s a$ Form G/DN wagppropriate, the Court

must address the DeclarationRélph Oman. This Declaratiomas offered by the Refinery in

12 A ‘compilation’ is a work formed by the collection and assembling of preexisting materials or of data
that are selected, coordinated, or arranged in suchyahatthe resulting work as a whole constitutes an original
work of authorship.” 17 U.S.C. § 101.

13«A ‘collective work’ is a work, such as a periodiéasue, anthology, or encippedia, in which a number
of contributions, constituting separate and independent works in themselves, are assembled into a collective whole.”
17 U.S.C. § 101. Compilations are also known as “collective works.” U.S. Copyriglte O@ircular 14,
Copyright in Derivative Works and Compilations (rev. 2013).



support of its argument that the Court must refé&’&kcopyright registrationto the Register of
Copyrights. Although the Declaration disses EIG’s copyright registrations fOil Daily, it
was originally prepared and offered in anothesecan the United States District Court for the
Southern District of TexasEnergy Intelligence Group v. Kae Anderson Capital Advisots
EIG has not moved for the Court $trike the Declaration. Hower, it has asked the Court to
disregard it on the basis that it is impermissibipest testimony. In the alternative, EIG asks the
Court to reopen discovery so that it matane an expert to rebut Oman’s opinions.

The Court declines to consider the Oman Declaration in #lysia of the motion. First,
the submission of the Declaration is untimely. épert witness is “[a] witness who is qualified
as an expert by knowledge, skiixperience, training, or eduaati” who testifies “in the form
of an opinion.*®> The Federal Rules of Civil Pradere provide for didosure and timing
requirements for expert witnesses who are “rethimespecifically employed to provide expert
testimony.®® Oman was neither a fact witness moparty to the othepending litigation in
which his report was initially offered. He chaexizes his Declaration a&etting forth opinions
regarding EIC’s copyright registrations andines on how the Copyright Office would have

handled the applications if it was aware of tHeg@d inaccuracy. Omastates that his opinions

4 No. H-14-1903. Kayne Anderson is another one of EIG’s subscribers against whom EIG is asserting
copyright infringement. Kayne Anderson also filed a motion asking the district court for the r&ddiseict of
Texas to refer EIG’s copyright registrations it Daily to the Register because Eii@properly used Form G/DN.
The district court denied the motiolKayne Andersgn2017 WL 3206896, at *6 (S.D. Tex. 2017). EIG asks this
Court to adopt the distii court’s findings and conclusions. Because@ourt does not havedlparties’ briefs and
arguments irKayne Andersomefore it, the Court will conduct its ownapsis. The Court notes, however, that
much of the analysis is similar that of the district court.

B Fed. R. Evid. 702.

18 Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(a)(2)(B).



are based on his knowledge and experience asr@efdRegister of Copights. Accordingly,
Oman is a retained expert witness arglDeclaration i&n expert opinion.

Under the Federal Rules of Civil Proceduttee Refinery was requed to disclose all
witnesses retained to providgpert testimony “at the times amad the sequenc#hat the court
orders.” The Court’'s Scheduling Order in this eaquired all experts to be disclosed by
January 23, 2017. The Refinery did not discldsean or his Declaration until July 17, 2017, six
months after the Court’s deadlin@hus, the Oman Declarationas untimely expert report that
violates Rule 26 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

The Refinery argues that it was not requiteddisclose Oman as an expert because it
does not intend to use him as an expert at tiiae Refinery cites a single district court opinion
from New Jersey in support of this argumemt—+e Mercedes-Benz Anti-Trust Litigatiéh In
that case, the district court rekd to exclude an expert affidathat was useth support of the
defendants’ motion for summary judgmemit who would not beised at triat? The district
court relied on the language of IRW26(a)(2) which requires a pgarto disclose the identity of
any witness it may “use at tritb present evidence under FemleRule of Evidence 702, 703, or
705.%° But, this Court is not bound by that decisiand its applicabity is limited toits facts.
Unlike this case, the deadline for identifying experts had not yet passed when the defendants

filed their motion for summary judgment, and ttihere was no violation of Rule 26(a)(2)(#).

" Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(a)(2)(D).
18225 F.R.D. 498 (D.N.J. 2005).
91d. at 505.

D Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(a)(2)(A).

211n re Mercedes-Ben225 F.R.D. at 505.



The Court also disregards Oman’s opiniemsthe basis that thegontain overreaching
and improper legal conclusioffs. For example, Oman improperly opines regarding EIG’s intent
while preparing th@®il Daily applications, whether th@il Daily registrations should be referred
to the Copyright Office, and whether theogyright Office would consider the alleged
inaccuracies in the applications to be materidlne Refinery argues that the Declaration is
“valuable to this Court’s determination” andatht provides an “advisory opinion” based on his
personal experiences. But this Court is capabt®nducting its own legal analysis based on the
statutes, case law, and published guidance from the Copyright Office. In addition, although the
Declaration presumably concerng ttame copyright registrations that are at issue in this case, it
was prepared for an entirely different case m8mf the opinions expressed in the Declaration
relate to arguments being made in Keyne Andersocase that are not being made in this case.
To the extent the Declaration addresses thoseramgis, it is irrelevant. Accordingly, the Court
declines to consider the OmBxclaration in its analysis e¥hether EIG’s copyrights should be
submitted to the Register.

B. EIG’s Use of Form G/DN to RegistelOil Daily with the U.S. Copyright Office

1. Authorship of Oil Daily

Oil Daily is comprised of articles written by El§&sémployees, articles that it has licensed
from Reuters, and articles thaere previously published intodr publications produced by EIG.
The Refinery contends that because El@osthe author adll the content oOil Daily, then it is

not the author for theomplete issues oDil Daily for purposes of groupegistration. In

2 See, e.g., A.E. v. Indep. Sch. Dist. Ng.986 F.2d 472, 476 (10th Cir. 1991) (stating that an expert may
not apply the law to the specific factstbé case to form legal opinions).



response, EIG asserts that because it produces the entire iSSiu®aily, then it is the author
for registration purposes.

The Court agrees with EIG. The fact thalt Daily contains articles licensed from a third
party does not prevent it from using Form G/DNédgister the publicain. As discussed above,
Form G/DN allows an applicamd claim contribution in the conilption, editing, and text of a
newsletter. Circular 62A, vith is a publication produced byetHJ.S. Copyright Office that
contains instructions for filling out Form G/DNxicitly describes what registration using this
Form covers? It states:

For each issue in the group, registrationFamm G/DN includes all material in

which the claimant named at space 2nevihe copyright. This includes the

authorship of compiling and editing the wak a whole as well as the content of

any contributions (for examg| text or photos) done ®mployees of the claimant

as works made for hire. In addition, ificludes any independently authored

contributions (not done by employees) in whall rights have &en transferred to

the claimant by the contributors. These other contributions are included even

though the individual contributor@are not named on Form G/DN.The

registration does not includany independently authorembntributions in which

all rights have not beendnsferred to the claimant.

Based on this language, Circular®6cognizes that a newsletter subject to an application under
Form G/DN may include independently authoredtdbutions and that these contributions will

not be covered by the registration. This is ¢strat with the Compendm of U.S. Copyright

Office Practices, which contains instructionsdpplicants preparing Form G/DN and examiners

% U.S. Copyright Office, Circular 62A, Group Registration of Newspapers and Newsletters on Form G/DN
(rev. May 2009).

2d.
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reviewing such applicatiorfs. The language in the Compendium implies that a newsletter
subject to this appliten may contain independiyauthored content:

As a general rule, the U.S. Copyrightfi€e may accept a claim in text or editing

if the author contributed a sufficient amowitwritten expressin to each issue.

The Office may accept a claim in compilation if there is a sufficient amount of

creative expression in thelsetion, coordination, and/@arrangement of material

that appears in each isstle.
The use of the language “sufficient amount” implibat there may beontent in the newsletter
that the applicant did not contribute. Nowher¢ha Compendium does it state that an applicant
cannot use Form G/DN to register a newsletentaining independentlauthored content.
Indeed, the Refinery simply has not pointedaod the Court cannotnfil, any support for the
Refinery’s position that an applicant cannot &sem G/DN to registea group of newsletters
because those newsletters may atsatain third party content.

To the extent that EIG claimed contribution in the compilatio®ibDaily from 2004 to
2008, this conclusion is also supported by the AghyrAct. The Copyight Act provides the
following guidance regarding trezope of copyright registratis in compilation works:

The copyright in a compiteon or derivative workextends only to the material

contributed by the author of such works distinguished from the preexisting

material employed in the work, armbes not imply any exclusive right in the

preexisting material The copyright in such worik independent of, and does not

affect or enlarge the scope, durationnevship, or subsistence of, any copyright
protection in the preexisting materfal.

% U.S. Copyright Office, Compendium of U.S. Copyright Office Practices, 2014 WL 7749586, § 1112
(rev. 2014) [hereafter “Compendium”].

%d. §1112.2.

2717 U.S.C. § 103 (emphasis added).
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Thus, to the extent EIG claimegbntribution in the compilation oDil Daily, its copyright
extended only to the materiabntributed by EIG and not amyght in the licensed Reuters
articles.

The Refinery argues that becalid& claimed compilation rights i@il Daily, it also had
a duty to disclaim any preexisting materialnddr 17 U.S.C. 8§ 409(9), a copyright application
for a compilation work must include “an identificat of any preexisting workr works that it is
based on or incorporates, and ebhrgeneral statement of thdditional material covered by the
copyright claim being registered.” The Refinangues that EIG has not met this requirement—
and thus provided inaccurate information Barm G/DN—because it did not identify the
Reuters articles in its applications claimingmglation. In responsekIG points out that it
provided deposit materials containiogmplete issues of all ti@il Daily newsletters claimed in
their applications and for those issues in whiah Reuters articles apged, it gave proper and
noticeable attribution. According EIG, the Copyright Office vgatherefore aware of the third-
party material inOil Daily. EIG also points out that thei® no space on Form G/DN where a
copyright applicant could actualstate the existence of propelilgensed third-party content.

The Court recognizes that the Copyrightt requires an applicant to identify any
preexisting works in an applidah to register a compilation.Yet, unlike other applications,
Form G/DN does not contain any lines or areas that allow an applicant to identify these works.
Arguably, the applicant may identipreexisting works in the line titled “Other” when describing
the applicant’s contribution to the work, but the text box provided for such information in the
online application only supports a limited numhbafr characters and certainly not enough
characters to fully identify preexisting worksTherefore, it's not clgato the Court how the

applicant is supposed to identify thesegxisting works in the application.
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The Compendium appears to obtain arcegtion to the statutory requirement of
identifying preexisting materials ian application. It provides @h when an applicant fails to
identify preexisting material in a compilation for a Standard Application, the examiner may still
accept the application the scope of the claim is clearglentified by the deposit copié¥.
Unlike Form G/DN, the Standardpflication contains a specific &y for the applicant to state
any limitations to the applicant’s claim, incladi identifying preexisting materials. The Court
can only infer from this that the Copyright Office isvilling to overlook an applicant’s failure
to identify preexisting works ia Standard Application, whereette is a specific line asking the
applicant to name these works, it arguably wadid the same in the case of Form G/DN where
there is no line for the applicatat provide such information.

The Oil Daily issues submitted to the Copyright Office all contained conspicuous
attribution to the licensed Reutadicles. Practicallgpeaking, the Court findkat this satisfies
the statutory requirement that the applicasentify preexisting works in a compilation.
Therefore, the Refinery has not shown thab Eubmitted inaccurate information in regard to
authorship when completing Form G/DN.

2. All New Collective Work

One of the requirements for group applicatiathat the work must be “essentially all
new collective works or all new issuésat have not been published befof®. The Refinery

argues thaOil Daily is not an “all new collective work” aan “all new issue” because some of

% Compendium, 2014 WL 7749581, § 621.9(D)(5) (rev. Dec. 2014). The Standard Application contains
spaces which require the applicant to list previoustystered works and preexisting materials.

2937 C.F.R. § 202.3(b)(9)(ii).
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the Oil Daily issues contain previously published Reugtiles or previously published articles
that first appeared in an EIG sister-publication. Thar€disagrees.

The Refinery’s position narrowly interpretise requirement for an “all new collective
work” or an “all new issue.” Under its positi, each article withimach published newsletter
must be completely new—never published befefer an applicant to use Form G/DN. The
Refinery has not offered any authority supportinig interpretation and the Court has not found
any. Furthermore, the language of the regulatio®es not support this position. The regulation
requires an “all new collective work[] or arl aew issue[] that ha[s] not been published

before.®°

This refers to the work as a wholeot the individual components within the
collective work or issue.

The parties do not dispute that each issu@ibDaily, as an individual collective work, is
a unique and previously unpublished issue of thdigation. The inclusiorof an article from a
sister publication or a licensed article from Reuters does ndatforam the entire issue into a
previously published work. Therefore, Eh@s met this requirement for using Form G/DN.

3. Work Made for Hire

Under 37 U.S.C. 8§ 202.3(b)(9)(iii), for mewsletter to qualify for group registration,
“each issue must be a work made for hire.” A warkde for hire is defined as “a work prepared

by an employee within the scope of his or her employn&niThe employer is the author of a

work made for hiré?

0)q.
3117 U.S.C. 8 101.
32)d.
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The Refinery argues th&tl Daily cannot satisfy this requiremiebecause the entirety of
the editing and text in eaddil Daily publication was not a work mader hire. Once again, the
Refinery has parsed the language of the regulation so that it would apply to each component of
an issue instead of the issueaashole. The regulation specifllyastates that “each issue” must
be a work made for hire. It does not state daath issue, and its componarticles, must be a
work made for hire. In this case, the Refineag not come forward withiny evidence disputing
that EIG or its employees did not direct or control the creation of each is€dik dily as a
whole. As such, each issue@il Daily qualifies as a work made for hire.

The Refinery also attempts to extemlois argument to EIG’s decision to claim
contribution in the editing and text @il Daily. The Refinery arguethat by claiming
contribution for editing and text on Form G/DEIG knowingly providednaccurate information
because the Reuters articles were not a wodde for hire. But, the Copyright Office
Compendium states that “the3J.Copyright Office may accept aaoh in text or editing if the
author contributed a sufficient amounit written expression to each issié.” This language
indicates that a newsletter magntain content for which is nat work made for hire or which
the applicant does not own the copyright. Howetlee applicant mayti use Form G/DN to
register the newsletter and magiah contribution in editing or text if the applicant contributed a
certain amount of written expression.

Neither the federal courts nor the U.Sp@right Office has stated what constitutes a
“sufficient amount of written expression” for applicant to claim contribution in text and

editing under Form G/DN. Furthermore, thetgs dispute how much original content EIG

3 Compendium, 2014 WL 7749586, § 1112.2.
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contributed to each issue @fil Daily. EIG contends that the aumt of Reuters articles and
articles from a previouslpublished application age minimis while the Refinery contends that
they make up a significant amount of each isslibe parties have provided the Court a single
issue ofQil Daily for review. Assuming that this issu® representative of the newsletter’s
content, the Court concludes that EIG contelua sufficient amount of written expression to
support claims of text and editing in each issue. Thus, the Court is not persuaded that EIG
provided inaccurate information by claimingntribution in the eiting and text ofOil Daily.
C. Knowledge

Under 17 U.S.C. 8§ 411(b)(2), a question of validity should be referred to the Register of
Copyrights if “inaccurate information was inckd on the application facopyright registration
with knowledge that it was inaccurate.” €ltparties dispute the gleee of knowledge an
applicant must possess to satisfy this requirement. EIG argues that the Refinery must
demonstrate that EIG intended defraud the Copyright Office v it filed its applications,
while the Refinery argues that it only needshow that the information EIG submitted in the
applications was inaccurate. The Refinery believes that it has met this burden because it
submitted evidence that EIG’s editor-in-chlafew that it was only allowed to republish the
Reuters articles and calhot obtain a copyright registration for them.

In support of its argument, the Refinery reliesRwoberts v. Gordya case in which the
District Court for the Southeristrict of Florida concludedhat the plaintiff erroneously
registered three different registions for a musical compositiéh.Having found earlier that the

applications for the registrations containgtccurate information, the court had issued a

34181 F. Supp. 3d 997, 1014 (S.D. Fla. 2016), rev'd, 877 F.3d 1024 (11th Cir. 2017).
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§ 411(b) request to the Register to detaemwhether the inaccuracies were matéfialThe
Register responded affirmativelydistated that based on the rafmesentations she would have
refused copyright registratidfi. In a subsequent motion befdtee court, the plaintiffs argued
that the registrations were not invalid beauke court was required to find that it had
knowingly and intentionally defrauded the Copyright Office when submitting the applic3tions.
But the district court disagreed, reasoning tha#18(b) says nothing about an intent to defraud
the Copyright Office. Rather, the plain texttbe statute requires onlyahthe application be
made with knowledge #i it was inaccurate®® The district court further determined that “when
the error on the registration forim not a minor technical errobut rather a material one that
would have caused the Registerdéuse registration, ‘this issuensore appropriately dealt with
by ascertaining whether the regisima should have issued in thest place, and that analysis
does not require a showing of fraud®® "Accordingly, the districtourt concluded that based on
the evidence before it the copyigegistrationsvere invalid™

But, the Refinery’s reliance oRobertsis misplaced in light othe Eleventh Circuit's
recent decision reversing and remanding the district court's andlySsntrary to the district

court’s opinion, the Eleventh Circuit held tHagfore invalidating a quyright registration, the

%d. at 1009.

*1d. at 1010.

¥1d.

1d. at 1010 (quoting 17 U.S.C. § 411(b)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

391d. at 1010-11 (quotingamily Dollar Stores, Inc. v. United Fabrics Intl, In896 F. Supp. 2d 223, 233
(S.D.N.Y. 2012)).

401d. at 1114.

41877 F.3d 1024.
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court must determine whether the applicant hasrélguired degree of scienter and that scienter
is one of intentional and purposeful concealnférithe Circuit thereforeoncluded that because
the defendants never offered any argument oryha® to why or how the plaintiffs committed
fraud on the copyright office, the distrimurt erred in its application of the I&%.

The Eleventh Circuit is not ¢honly court to hold that thenowledge element of § 411(b)
requires a showing of fraud on the copyrighitice. The Ninth Circuit has also held that
inadvertent mistakes on copyrigtggistrations do not invalidage copyright unless the alleged
infringer relied on the mistake to its detrimentloe claimant intended to defraud the Copyright
Office* The Tenth Circuit has not addressed $hinter necessary tmlidate a copyright
registration. The Coudgrees, however, with the Eleventh a&fidth Circuits that to satisfy the
knowledge element of 8§ 411(b), the Refinerysinghow that EIG iended to defraud the
Copyright Office. This interptation is supported by the plalanguage of the statute, which
requires the inaccurate information to be “incldid® the application . . . with knowledge that it
was inaccurate?® This interpretation is also supportby the Register o€opyrights. In the
Annual Report of the Register of Copyrights foe fiscal year ending September 30, 2009, the

Register stated that the PRO IP Act amendeil1§8“tb create a new procedure . . . that requires

*21d. at 1029.

*31d. at 1030.

“L.A. Printex Indus., lo. v. Aeropostale, Inc676 F.3d 841, 853 (9th Cir. 2018ge also Archie MD, Inc.
v. Elsevier, In¢.261 F. Supp. 3d 512, 520 (S.D.N.Y. 2017) (stating that the applicant must subjectively know of the
inaccuracy when prepagrthe application).

%517 U.S.C. § 411(b).
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courts to seek the advice of the Copyright Office on isthas may involve fraud on the
Copyright Office’®

Even assuming that EIG included inaccuraterimation in its copyright applications, the
Refinery has not demonstratedatht included this information wh the intent to defraud the
Copyright Office. The only ev&hce the Refinery offers on this element is the deposition
testimony ofQil Daily’s editor-in-chief, Tom Wallin. He testified that he was aware that EIG
was only permitted to republish the Reuters articlé®e Refinery contends that based on this
testimony, EIG knew or should have known that whesnbmitted copyright applications for the
editing and text oDil Daily that this information was inaccurate. The Court disagrees. Even if
EIG could not use Form G/DN to obtain copyright registratiorCibiDaily, nothing about this
testimony indicates that EIG knew tlusthat it intentnally hid or disguiseds inclusion of the
Reuters articles form the Copyright Office. f&at, the evidence offerdn/ EIG suggests just the
opposite. EIG has submitted the affidavit @éborah Brown, who prepared the copyright
applications foiOil Daily. She averred that she believed Form G/DN was the correct application
for Oil Daily, that that the applications were filed @atly to the best diier knowledge, and that
no information was provided to mislead the Cagiyr Office. Accordingly, the Refinery has
failed to demonstrate that assuming EIG prodidieaccurate inforntgon on its registration
applications, EIG did so with the imteto defraud the Copyright Office.

In sum, the Court concludes that EIG diot provide inaccurate information on Form
G/DN when it applied for @pyright registration folOil Daily. Even assuming EIG provided

inaccurate information, such information wa®t included with knowledge that it was

6 U.S. Copyright Office, Annual Report of the Register of Copyrights, at 9 (2009) (emphasis added).
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inaccurate. Therefore, the Court denies the Refinery’s motion to refer this matter to the Register
of Copyrights and to stay the case.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that CHS McPherson Refinery Inc.’s Motion for
Referral to the Register of Copyrights Pursueni7 U.S.C. § 411(band a Concurrent Stay
(Doc. 98) isDENIED.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated this 1% day of January, 2018.

ERIC F. MELGREN
WNITED STATESDISTRICT JUDGE
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